1989

Maria Espinal, Donnie James, G. Harvey Hamilton,
Joyce Campbell and Terry Hoecher, for themselves
and all others similarly situated v. Salt Lake City
Board of Education : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review on this appeal are as follows:

A. Whether the Order denies plaintiffs' their liberty to control the education of their children, which denial is contrary to the provisions of Utah Constitution Article I, section 7;

B. Whether the Order is unconstitutional as contrary to the provisions of Utah Constitution Article X, section 8 prohibiting a partisan test or qualification for admission or attendance in the public high schools of Salt Lake City, Utah; and

C. Whether the Order is unlawful because it is ultra vires the enumerated powers conferred on the Board by former Section 53-6-20, Utah Code Ann.¹

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES

The determinative provisions of the Utah Constitution, and the determinative statutes of the State of Utah read verbatim as follows:

¹In 1988 Title 53 was recodified and replaced by Title 53A. The section applicable to this action is 53-6-20, which section as amended has now been designated as section 53A-3-402. In this brief Plaintiffs will refer to the old section 53-6-20 which was in effect at the time the Order was adopted by the Board on January 19, 1988.

UTAH CONSTIT. ARTICLE I, SECTION 7.

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

UTAH CONSTIT. ARTICLE X, SECTION 8.

No religious or partisan test or qualification shall be required as a condition of employment, admission, or attendance in the state's education systems.

UTAH CODE ANN. SEC. 53-6-20.

Every school board may:

(1) spend minimum school program funds for programs and activities for which the State Board of Education has established minimum standards or rules under Section 53-2-12.1;

(2) purchase, sell, and make improvements on school sites, buildings, and equipment and construct, erect, and furnish school buildings. School sites or buildings may only be conveyed or sold on board resolution affirmed by at least two-thirds of the members;

(3) participate in the joint construction or operation of a school attended by children in the district and children residing in adjoining districts either within or outside the state. The agreement for joint operation or construction of a school shall be signed by the president of the board of each participating district, include a mutually agreed upon pro rata cost, and be filed with the State Board of Education;

(4) establish, locate, and maintain kindergarten, elementary, secondary, and vocational schools. Children seeking to enter school must be at least five years of age before September 2, of the year in which admission is sought;

(5) establish and support school libraries and authorize, and pay for out of district

funds, a compilation of the history of the district;

(6) collect damages for the loss, injury, or destruction of school property;

(7) engage in guidance and counseling services for children and their parents prior to enrollment of the children in school;

(8) apply for, receive, and administer funds made available through the programs of the Federal Government. Federal funds are not considered funds within the school district budget under chapter 20 of Title 53. Federal funds are expended for the purposes for which they are received and are accounted for by the Board.

(9) organize school safety patrols and adopt rules under which the patrols promote student safety. A student appointed to a safety patrol shall be age 11 or over, or age ten or over in elementary schools that do not include a sixth grade, and shall have written parental consent for the appointment. Safety patrol members shall not direct vehicular traffic or be stationed in the portion of the highway intended for vehicular traffic use. No liability shall attach either to the school district, the board of education, an individual board member, a parent of a safety patrol member, an authorized volunteer assisting the program, or other school authority by virtue of the organization, maintenance, or operation of a school safety patrol;

(10) on its own behalf, or on behalf of an educational institution for which the board is the direct governing body, accept private grants, loans, gifts, endowments, devises or bequests which are made for educational purposes. These contributions are not subject to appropriation by the Legislature;

(11) appoint and fix the compensation of a compliance officer to issue citations for violations of Subsection 76-10-105(2). A

person may not be appointed to serve as a compliance officer without the person's consent. A teacher or student may not be appointed as a compliance officer.

(12) adopt bylaws and rules for its own procedures;

(13) make and enforce rules necessary for the control and management of the district schools. All board rules and policies shall be in writing, filed, and referenced for public access; and

(14) do all things necessary for the maintenance, prosperity, and success of the schools and the promotion of education.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs, acting for themselves and all others similarly situated, commenced this class action on March 4, 1988 to nullify the effect of the Order, which Order became effective in August 1988. Pursuant to the Order certain children of plaintiffs and other high school students residing in Salt Lake City, Utah are denied access to the Salt Lake City high school of their choice and located in their respective neighborhoods, and are transported by school bus each school day from the area served by the high school in their respective neighborhoods to another high school not in closest proximity to where they reside.

The Board admits that the students residing in the various neighborhoods denied access to the high school of their choice and closest to them, were selected for assignment and

transport to another high school in Salt Lake City because of their ethnic status, their academic achievement scores and the socio-economic classes of the parents and students involved. However, the Board contends that under Utah law the Board has the plenary power to adopt and enforce the Order regardless of its reasons for determining which student was selected for mandatory assignment to which high school.

Although originally filed in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, because of the federal predicates described in the complaint, the Board removed the case to the United States District Court for the District of Utah. Following consideration there of the Board's motion to dismiss or in the alternative for summary judgment, and plaintiffs' cross-motion for summary judgment, the Honorable Judge David K. Winder dismissed all federal claims but refused to rule on plaintiffs' claims grounded on the Utah Constitution and other Utah state law. Upon the federal court's remand to the District Court of Salt Lake County, and after considering the parties cross-motions for summary judgment, the Honorable Scott Daniels granted the Board's motion for summary judgment and denied plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment. Summary judgment to that effect was entered on December 30, 1988, from which summary judgment this appeal is taken.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

There is no genuine issue as to any of the following material facts. All references in this Brief of Appellants are to pages in the original papers and exhibits contained in the record on appeal as contemplated by R. Utah S. Ct. 11(b) and 24(e). Copies of the Order and Judge Daniels' Memorandum Decision are included in the Addendum.

1. The named plaintiffs are the parents of children currently enrolled in one or more schools in the District. (See paragraph 3 on page 131.)

2. The Board is the legal entity created to administer the affairs of the District. (See paragraph 1 on page 131.)

3. Prior to January 19, 1988, there were four high schools in the District, namely, in alphabetical order, East, Highland, South and West. (See pages 643-645, 688.)

4. Prior to January 19, 1988, the Board decided to close South High at the conclusion of the 1987-1988 school year. (See pages 643-645.)

5. On January 19, 1988, by a bare majority vote of four to three, the Board made a formal decision constituting the Order, pursuant to which Order the Board established attendance boundaries for high school students residing in the District who would be attending the remaining three high

schools, East, Highland and West, during the 1988-1989 school year and thereafter. (See pages 643-645, 688.)

6. The boundaries established by the Order are "closed boundaries" in the sense that the high school students residing in the District are required to attend a designated high school, unless, upon a showing of special circumstances, a particular student is permitted to do otherwise by the District. (See paragraphs 22 and 23 on pages 147 and 148, and pages 739-740.)

7. The purpose and effect of the Order is to "gerrymander" the District's high school attendance boundaries so that students represented by plaintiffs are prevented from attending the high school of their choice, in their neighborhood or in nearest proximity to them. (See pages 546, 730, 772, 773, 776, 777.)

8. As a result of the Order, certain of the high school students residing in the Euclid area in the District whose places of residence prior to the Order were located within the West High attendance boundary, and who currently live within walking distance of West High, are now denied admission to or attendance at West High, and such students have been eliminated from the West High student body because a high percentage of such students are low academic achievers, are members of ethnic minorities, and they and their families are perceived by a majority of the Board to be members of a low

social and economic class of people. (See pages 651-655, 665, 688.)

9. As a result of the Order, certain high school students residing within the area immediately south of the Euclid area of the District, whose places of residence prior to the Order were located within the South High attendance boundary, and who currently live within walking distance of West High, are now denied admission to or attendance at West High, and such students have been denied membership in the West High student body because a high percentage of such students are low academic achievers, are members of ethnic minorities, and they and their families are perceived by a majority of the Board to be members of a low social and economic class of people. (See pages 665, 667-669, 688.)

10. As a result of the Order, certain of the high school students residing within the Federal Heights area and the Avenues area of the District, whose places of residence prior to the Order were located within the East High attendance boundary, and who currently live within walking distance of East High, are now denied admission to or attendance at East High, and such students have been eliminated from the East High student body because a high percentage of such students are high academic achievers, are not members of ethnic minorities, and they and their families are perceived by a majority of the Board to be members of a high social and economic class of people. (See pages 648-651, 662-665, 688.)

11. The students described in the next three preceding paragraphs are not within walking distance of the high school where they are required to attend by the Order, and each school day, at extra expense to the District, such students are bussed across Salt Lake City to a high school not closest or most convenient to them. (See pages 680-685, 704-708, 710-715.)

12. As a result of the Order, certain of the high school students residing within the 13th and 17th South area of the District, whose places of residence prior to the Order were in the Highland High attendance boundary, and who are currently living within walking distance of Highland High, are now denied admission to or attendance at Highland High, and such students have been eliminated from the Highland High student body because a high percentage of such students are high academic achievers, are not members of ethnic minorities, and they and their families are perceived by a majority of the Board to be members of a high social and economic class of people. (See pages 646-648, 665, 688.)

13. The Order was designed to make West High a "better school" by denying students residing in the the Euclid area and students residing in the area immediately south of the Euclid area, access to West High (their school of choice and closest to them), while at the same time denying the Federal Heights area students and the Avenues area students access to

East High, and the 13th South and 17th South area students access to Highland High. (See pages 657-661, 665, 669-672, 688.)

14. None of the high schools in the District is or ever has been "segregated." (See pages 803-807.)

15. The Order is not "necessary" to enable the Board to discharge any of its duties as specified in Utah Code Ann. Section 53-6-20. (See pages 617-627, 661, 662, 765, 766, 852, 853.)

16. The three high schools in the District still operating following the closure of South High can operate with all students attending the school in nearest proximity to them, and with enrollments that are unbalanced between the schools on the basis of academic achievement or racial status. (See pages 661, 662.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. The Order is unconstitutional and therefore should be considered of no force and effect because the Order denies plaintiffs their liberty to control the education of their children, which liberty is protected by the due process clause found in Article I, section 7 of the Utah Constitution. Several persuasive federal Supreme Court decisions have declared that such rights are among those contemplated by the

concept of "liberty" contained in both the federal and Utah constitutions. In the present case, the Order Gerrymandered the high school boundaries within the District for the same reasons that have historically condemned Gerrymandering -- the failure to treat everyone impartially by taking rights from one group and giving special advantages to others.

II. The Order is unconstitutional and therefore should be considered of no force and effect because the Order subjects certain students in the District to partisan tests or qualifications for access to a certain high school, all in violation of Article X, section 8 of the Utah Constitution. By definition, partisan tests include tests that divide school patrons for reasons of bias, prejudice (discrimination), one-sided allegiance and other unreasonable considerations. Such unfavorable tests resulting in the Order included whether the students resided in a neighborhood of high or low academic achievers; whether the students resided in a neighborhood with a proportionally high or low number of minority residents; whether the students resided in a neighborhood of a high or low socio-economic class of people; or whether the students resided in a neighborhood whose exclusion from a particular school was perceived to be in the best interests of West High.

III. The Order is illegal and therefore should be considered of no force and effect because the Order is not within the competency of the Board because the Order exceeds enumerated powers conferred on the Board by Utah Code Ann.

Section 53-6-20 and the whole Utah statutory scheme governing Utah's public schools. More particularly, the Order is not "necessary" as required by subsection (14) of Section 53-6-20 pursuant to the doctrine ejusdem generis; granting the Board plenary power pursuant to subsection (14) ignores the fundamental rights of parents to make reasonable choices in the education of their children, while granting boards of education the right to make all of those choices in place of the parents so long as members of boards of education sincerely believe that what they are doing is right, which authority in favor of boards of education effectively disenfranchises parents; the Order creates an incredible situation which allows students from e.g., Davis County to attend West High, at the expense of the Davis County School District, but forces a student living within walking distance of West High to be bussed across town to East High; and the Order is the result of an arbitrary and capricious decision on the part of the Board because it does not meet the criteria prescribed by Section 53-6-20 and constitutes Gerrymandering.

ARGUMENT

This case presents a classic clash between the powers of the State to control and regulate public schools, and the

individual rights of parents and students who are patrons of the public schools. Plaintiffs contend that the Order is contrary to the "fundamental principles. . .essential to the security of individual rights"² in violation of the Utah Constitution and Utah statutory law.

POINT I

THE ORDER CONFLICTS WITH THE LIBERTY OF PARENTS TO CONTROL THE EDUCATION OF THEIR CHILDREN IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 7 OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION.

Judge David K. Winder of the United States District Court for the District of Utah, in remanding this matter to the Salt Lake County District Court, held that "plaintiff is correct" "that she has a Constitutional right to make choices about how her children are educated," (See page 558.) citing Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205 (1972); Tinker v. Des Moines Independent Community School Dist., 393 U.S. 503 (1969); Pierce v. Society of Sisters, 268 U.S. 510 (1925) and Meyer v.

²Utah Constit. art. I, sec. 27 reads in its entirety as follows: "Frequent recurrence to fundamental principals is essential to the security of individual rights and the perpetuity of free government."

Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390 (1923). The nature of the rights thus acknowledged by Judge Winder must, therefore, be understood as a predicate to determining if the Order abrogates those rights in violation of the Utah Constitution and Utah laws.

Meyer v. Nebraska, supra, announced that there must be a balance between the powers of the state over public schools and the rights of the parent to make reasonable choices in the education of his or her child:

The state may do much, go very far, indeed, in order to improve the quality of its citizens, physically, mentally and morally, [it] is clear; but the individual has certain fundamental rights which must be respected. Id. at 401. (Emphasis added.)

The issue in Meyer v. Nebraska was whether the state could prohibit the teaching of foreign languages as a measure to promote the public good by fostering a "mother tongue." Promoting purely social goals went too far, it was held, and offended the Fourteenth Amendment provision that "[no] state . . . shall deprive any person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law."

While this court has not attempted to define with exactness the liberty thus guaranteed, the term has received much consideration, and some of the included things have been definitely stated. Without doubt, it denotes not merely freedom from bodily restraint, but also the right of the individual to contract, to engage in any of the common occupations of life, to acquire

useful knowledge, to marry, establish a home and bring up children, to worship God according to the dictates of his own conscience, and, generally to enjoy those privileges long recognized at common law as essential to the orderly pursuit of happiness by free men The established doctrine is that this liberty may not be interfered with, under the guise of protecting the public interest, by legislative action which is arbitrary or without reasonable relation to some purpose within the competency of the state to effect. Determination by the legislature of what constitutes proper exercise of police power is not final or conclusive, but is subject to supervision by the courts. 262 U.S. 399-400. (Emphasis added, citations omitted.)

The doctrine of Meyer v. Nebraska was applied soon after it was announced, on facts closer to the matter at bar, in Pierce v. Society of Sisters, supra. In Pierce, a law of the State of Oregon requiring children between 8 and 16 years of age to attend the public schools to the exclusion of private ones was held unconstitutional. Appropos, the Order's assignment of students to achieve admittedly socio-economic goals herein, the court declared:

Under the doctrine of Meyer v. Nebraska, we think it entirely plain that the [Oregon statute] unreasonably interferes with the liberty of parents and guardians to direct the upbringing and education of children under their control. As often heretofore pointed out, rights guaranteed by the Constitution may not be abridged by legislation which has no reasonable relation to some purpose within the competency of the state. The fundamental theory of liberty upon which all governments in this Union repose excludes any general power of the state to standardize its children by forcing

them to accept instruction from public teachers only. The child is not the mere creature of the state; those who nurture him and direct his destiny have the right, coupled with the high duty, to recognize and prepare him for additional obligations. 268 U.S. 534-35. (Emphasis added, citations omitted.)

Those propositions were reaffirmed by the modern Court in Tinker v. Des Moines Independent Community School District, supra, and Wisconsin v. Yoder, supra. In Yoder, Amish parents challenged state control of the education of their children, albeit on First Amendment grounds. Justice Burger observed that the case was "not one in which any harm to the physical or mental health of the child or to the public safety, peace, order or welfare ha[d] been demonstrated or may be properly inferred" (406 U.S. 230, citations omitted) and then confirmed the very rights of parents asserted herein:

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