1989

Maria Espinal v. Salt Lake City Board of Education : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Plaintiffs are precluded from arguing that the Board's boundary decision violated their rights under Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution because they did not raise the issue below. Moreover, in granting the Board summary judgment prior to remanding the case to state court, Judge Winder ruled that the boundary decision did not deprive Plaintiffs of liberty or unduly infringe upon parental rights under the Federal Constitution. That reasoning is persuasive with regard to Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 7.

2. The boundary decision did not create a partisan test under Article X, Section 8 of the Utah Constitution. In drawing boundary lines, the Board did not consider adherence of students to any cause or political party. The objective academic and other factors used by the Board are lacking in partisanship.

3. The Board acted within its statutory authority in drawing the boundary lines. While drawing school boundary lines is not an expressly enumerated power of school boards under

Section 53-6-20, it is authorized under Section 53-6-20(4), (13) & (14) which empowers school boards to "do all things necessary for the maintenance, propriety and success of schools and the promotion of education." The extremely narrow reading of the word "necessary" in Section 53-6-20(14) urged by Plaintiffs is contrary to both Utah case law and decisions from other jurisdictions.

4. The Board's boundary decision was based on carefully considered factors after months of study, public input, and deliberation. The Board considered factors legitimately related to promoting the academic achievement and social development of the students. The record establishes that the boundary decision was not arbitrary and capricious as a matter of law.

5. Students have no right to attend a particular school under Utah law. Neither do parents have a right to send their children to a particular public school.

ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs admit that a school board may assign students to attend a particular school. E.g., R. at 518-19. Plaintiffs further admit that the attendance areas for particular schools may be closed, that is a student must attend the school to which he or she is assigned. Id. Plaintiffs' only argument is that the factors considered by the Board are impermissible.

Plaintiffs cite no statute or case stating that the factors considered are impermissible, but only argue that they are contrary to "fundamental propositions" and beyond the authority of the Board. Plaintiffs make these assertions despite the uncontroverted evidence that the professional educators and the majority of the Board believe that the factors promote education and are for the maintenance, prosperity and success of the schools. See, Affidavit of John J. Keegan, Jr. ("Keegan Affidavit"), ¶¶5-9, R. at 397; and the Board's Statement of Purpose and Statement of Goals in Statement of Facts ¶¶21 & 24, supra.

I. THE BOARD'S BOUNDARY DECISION DOES NOT VIOLATE PLAINTIFFS' LIBERTY INTEREST ESTABLISHED BY UTAH CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE I, SECTION 7.

As noted above, Plaintiffs' claim that the boundary decision violates Utah Constitution Article I, Section 7 is being raised for the first time on appeal. Furthermore, their assertion is without merit. Plaintiffs argue the same cases before this Court that they argued before the United States District Court for the District of Utah. E.g., R. at 352-53 & 434-39. Judge Winder considered those arguments and rejected them.

In support of their argument, Plaintiffs quote Judge Winder's Memorandum Decision: "Plaintiff is correct that she has a constitutional right to make choices about how her children are educated." Plaintiffs' Brief at p. 14. However, Plaintiffs do

not quote the remainder of Judge Winder's decision on the issue.

Judge Winder wrote:

Plaintiff relies on the above cases claiming that her right to direct the education of her children takes priority over the state's rights to create school attendance zones. The court disagrees.

. . . Any law which interferes with a fundamental rights must be narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling state interest. However, the right to attend a particular school is not a fundamental right. Thus, the district zoning decision need only be rationally related to a legitimate state interest. "Providing public schools ranks at the apex of the function of a state." Thus, the state has a legitimate interest in controlling education. Further, dividing students up to insure a diverse student body is related to the state's interest in education.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs' Fourteenth Amendment claim based on parents' rights is dismissed.

Memorandum Decision at p. 15; R. at 950 (citations omitted).

Plaintiffs never appealed Judge Winder's ruling. Nevertheless, when this case was remanded to the state court, Plaintiffs asserted the same arguments presented to and rejected by Judge Winder. E.g., R. at 497-502. Plaintiffs advanced those arguments without ever referring to Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 7. Judge Daniels, like Judge Winder, rejected those arguments.

Plaintiffs now raise the same arguments before this Court. However, they now argue that the boundary decision is in violation of Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 7. But, as

noted in Plaintiffs' brief, "the decisions of the Federal Supreme Court are highly persuasive as to the application and meaning of the above-quoted Section 7." Plaintiffs' Brief at 18.^{5/} Plaintiffs' reliance on federal law defeats their own position. Judge Winder ruled that the Board's boundary decision does not violate Plaintiffs' Fourteenth Amendment rights under the United States Constitution. Accordingly, the Board's decision does not violate Plaintiffs' rights under Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution.^{6/}

While this court has not addressed the issue of parental choice of public schools in the context of Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution, it has addressed that issue in the context of Utah Constitution, Article X, Section 1, requiring: "A public education system, which shall be open to all children of

^{5/} Plaintiffs cite Untermeyer v. State Tax Commission, 102 Utah 214, 129 P.2d 881, 885-86 (1942), for that proposition. The case of Vali Convalescent & Care Institution v. Industrial Commission, 649 P.2d 33, 35-36 (Utah 1982), is also in accord.

^{6/} The Board recognizes that the rights under the Fourteenth Amendment and the rights under Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 7, are not necessarily coextensive. See, Gray v. Dept. of Employment Security, 681 P.2d 807, 825 (Utah 1984)(Durham, J. concurring and dissenting). However, Plaintiffs have not advanced, nor can they in this context, any rationale that the protections of Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution should be greater than the protections of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

the state;" Utah Constitution, Article X, Section 1. In Logan City School District v. Kowallis, 94 Utah 342, 77 P.2d 348 (1938), this court addressed the requirement of open schools.

The provision for being open . . . simply means that all children must have equal rights and opportunity to attend the grade or class of school for which such child is suited by previous training or development.

It is also noted that there is no requirement that every school building shall be open to every school child in the state. The provision is that the system of public schools shall be open to all children of the state. There shall be provided, for each child in the state, a school suitable to its development and training, and as reasonably convenient for attendance as is practicable, which school such child shall have a right to attend. And when the public schools are open to all children on the same and equal terms, compliance has been had with this clause of the Constitution.

Id. 77 P.2d at 351.

Plaintiffs have neither a fundamental right under the Federal Constitution nor under the Utah Constitution to choose which school among public schools their children attend. Their argument regarding Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 7, is not well-taken.

II. THE BOARD'S ACTION DID NOT CREATE A "PARTISAN TEST OR QUALIFICATION" UNDER THE UTAH CONSTITUTION.

Plaintiffs also assert that the Board's attendance area boundary decision constitutes a "partisan" test under Article X, Section 8 of the Utah Constitution which provides:

No religious or partisan test or qualification shall be required as a condition of

employment, admission, or attendance in the state's education systems.

Utah Const. art. X, § 8.

The Board has found no Utah case addressing the term "partisan" used in this section. Black's Law Dictionary, however, defines partisan as "an adherent to a particular party or cause as opposed to the public interest at large." Black's Law Dictionary, 1008 (5th Ed. 1979). The term "partisan" is generally associated with participation in a particular political party. See Utah Const. Art. VIII, § 9 ("judicial retention elections shall be held on a nonpartisan ballot . . ."). See also State v. Haley, 687 P.2d 305, 312 n.3 (Alaska 1984)(statute prohibiting legislative staff from involvement with "any partisan political organization, faction, or activity" applies only to political parties).

Plaintiffs' attempt to characterize groups of students residing in a particular area as partisan factions ignores the common political connotation of the term. Plaintiffs would also define partisan without the element of belief or adherence to a cause.^{17/} The fact that a student happens to reside within a

^{17/} On pages 26-27 of their brief, plaintiffs attempt to define partisan for the purposes of this case. That definition, however, does not even resemble the various legal and dictionary definitions of partisan cited by plaintiffs on pages 24-26 of their brief.

particular geographical boundary hardly makes the student "a firm adherent to a party, action, cause or person." The factors considered by the Board in establishing attendance areas were objective factors unrelated to a students' political affiliation, beliefs or support concerning any social issues.

There is nothing partisan about a school board considering racial balance, different levels of academic achievement and geographic location in drawing school boundary lines. Plaintiffs' attempted characterization of the classifications as partisan factions or groups stretches the meaning of partisan beyond recognition. If Plaintiffs' argument were carried to any logical conclusion, the Board would be precluded from making any classifications between students even if there were compelling reasons to do so. Arguably, under Plaintiffs' definition, the Board could not classify students on the basis of age, gender, grade or any other basis.

Plaintiffs even suggest that the Board has violated this Court's mandate in Logan School Dist. v. Kowallis, 94 Utah 342, 77 P.2d 348 (1938). To support that position, Plaintiffs quote from 77 P.2d at 350. Plaintiffs' Brief at p. 25. However, Plaintiffs fail to quote the case in context.^{8/} The issue

^{8/} The Kowallis court stated:

Footnote continued on next page.

addressed in that portion of the Kowallis decision is the denial of access to public schools, not the issue of assigning students to specific schools.

Throughout their "partisan test" discussion, Plaintiffs repeatedly characterize the boundary decision as making certain statements to patrons or students of the school district. See Plaintiffs' Brief at pp. 25-30. In fact, on pages 28 and 29 of their brief, Plaintiffs go so far as to state that "the hard reality is that the order says to those students removed from West High and their families, that" Plaintiffs then proceed to quote a statement "made by" the boundary decision. The quote is not from the record. It, as well as the statements, are merely Plaintiffs' characterization of the boundary decision.

Footnote continued from previous page.

"The requirement that the schools must be opened to all children of the state is a prohibition against any law or rule which would separate or divide the children of the state into classes or groups, and grant, allow, or provide one group or class educational privileges or advantages denied another. No child of school age, resident within the state, can be lawfully denied admission to the schools of the state because of race, color, location, religion, politics, or any other bar or barrier which may be set up which would deny to such child equality of educational opportunities or facilities with all other children of the state."

Throughout those characterizations, Plaintiffs choose to highlight the harm to West High patrons and students. However, as noted above, the advisory citizens committee which recommended the boundary decision that was adopted by the Board consisted of two representatives from each of the schools and four at-large members. The only boundary committee representatives that did not join in the majority report were those from East (including co-counsel for Plaintiffs, Mr. Linebaugh) and Highland High Schools.

Plaintiffs' arguments regarding Utah Constitution, Article X, Section 8 and their characterizations of the boundary decision are not well founded either in the law or in the record. The Boundary decision does not violate Article X, Section 8 of the Utah Constitution.

III. THE BOARD'S BOUNDARY DECISION WAS WITHIN ITS STATUTORY AUTHORITY.

A. The Board Has Broad Authority To Manage And Control Its Schools, Including Establishing Closed Attendance Boundaries.

In general, the Board's powers are governed by the Utah Constitution and Statutes. It has the powers expressly conferred upon it by the Legislature and the implied powers that are necessary to execute and to carry into effect its express powers.

Beard v. Board of Education, 81 Utah 51, 16 P.2d 900, 903 (1932). Utah Code Ann. § 53-6-20 provided, in pertinent part:

[A] Board may

(2) purchase, sell, and make improvements on school sites, buildings, and equipment and construct, erect, and furnish school buildings

(4) establish, locate and maintain elementary, secondary and vocational schools

(13) make and enforce rules necessary for the control and management of the district schools

(14) do all things necessary for the maintenance, prosperity, and success of the schools and the promotion of education.

Utah Code Ann. § 53-6-20. In reviewing the statutory language outlined above and similar language contained in predecessor statutes, this Court has stated that "these sections vest in boards of education the entire control of the public school system, including the schools and school property within their respective districts." Beard v. Beard of Education, 16 P.2d at 903-04.

Similarly, in the case of Ricker v. Board of Education, 16 Utah 2d 106, 396 P.2d 416 (1964), this Court stated: "It is the policy of the law not to favor limitations on the powers of the [school board], but rather to give it a free hand to function within the sphere of its responsibilities." Id. 396 P.2d 420. The Ricker Court also stated that "it is inherent in the nature of the board's function in managing school district business that

it have a broad latitude of discretion in order to carry out its objective of providing the best possible school system in the most efficient and economical way." Id.

In light of the Board's authority to maintain high schools and to do all things "necessary for the control of and management of the school district" and "all things necessary for the maintenance, prosperity, and success of the schools and the promotion of education," the Board's decision establishing attendance area boundaries for its high schools is within the scope of the powers granted to it.

The issue of assigning students to particular schools was addressed in this Court's decision in Logan City School District v. Kowallis, 94 Utah 342, 77 P.2d 348 (1938). In Kowallis, a parent who resided in the Cache County School District, but who worked in Logan City and sent his children to Logan City schools, challenged a rule adopted by the Logan City School District requiring the payment of a non-resident fee. In rejecting the parent's attack of the non-resident fee, the Kowallis court discussed a school district's powers and responsibilities over its students and non-resident students seeking admission to its schools. In that discussion, the court stated:

In the orderly administration of the school system, to prevent overcrowding at some schools, to insure an adequate teaching faculty, rooms, seats, equipment, grounds for recreation, to protect health, and secure to

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